# UNITED NATIONS



UNEP

United Nations Environment Programme Distr. Limited

UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/INF3 6 May 2002

ENGLISH Original: ENGLISH

Second Meeting of the Contracting Parties (COP) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region

Montego Bay, Jamaica, 6 May 2002

**REPORT OF THE MEETING** 

# CONTENTS

Introduction		1
Agenda Item 1:	Opening of the Meeting	1
Agenda Item 2:	Election of Officers	2
Agenda Item 3:	Organization of the Meeting	2
Agenda Item 4:	Adoption of the Agenda	3
Agenda Item 5:	Report of the Ad Hoc Working Group on the review of the criteria for the listing of species in the Annexes of the SPAW Protocol	3
Agenda Item 6:	Recommendations of the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region	4
Agenda Item 7:	Final adoption of the Workplan and Budget of the SPAW Programme for the 2002-2003 biennium	5
Agenda Item 8:	Report of the Regional Activity Centre for SPAW (SPAW/RAC) on progress made in the arrangements for the operations of the RAC	8
Agenda Item 9:	Other business	9
Agenda Item 10:	Adoption of the Decisions of the Meeting	9
Agenda Item 11:	Closure of the Meeting	9

Agenda
Decisions of the Meeting
List of Documents
List of Participants

# **INTRODUCTION**

- The Conference of Plenipotentiaries on Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife in the Wider Caribbean (SPAW), held in Kingston, 15-18 January 1990, adopted the SPAW Protocol to the Cartagena Convention, which came into force on 18 June 2000. Article 23 of the SPAW Protocol provides for the convening and functioning of the Meetings of the Parties. In light of the above, and in keeping with Decision No. VII of the First Meeting of the Contracting Parties (COP) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region, held in Havana, Cuba, 24-25 September 2001, this Meeting was convened by UNEP's Caribbean Environment Programme, in Montego Bay, Jamaica, 6 May 2002.
- 2. The Meeting had the following objectives:
  - a) review the report of the Ad Hoc Working Group on the criteria for the listing of species in the Annexes of the SPAW Protocol;
  - b) review and take appropriate action on the recommendations of the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region (Havana, Cuba, 27-29 September 2001);
  - c) Finalize the adoption of the Workplan and Budget of the SPAW Programme or the 2002 2003 biennium;
  - d) review the report of the Regional Activity Centre for SPAW (SPAW/RAC) on progress made in the arrangements for the operations of the RAC;
- 3. The experts invited to the Meeting were nominated by the national focal points of the Governments that constitute the Contacting Parties of the SPAW Protocol. Additionally, representatives of Governments that are non-Contracting Parties and of international, regional, intergovernmental, and non-governmental organizations have been invited to attend the Meeting as Observers.

# AGENDA ITEM 1: OPENING OF THE MEETING

- 4. The Meeting was opened at 9:30 am on Monday, 6 May 2002, by Mr. Nelson Andrade Colmenares, Coordinator of the Caribbean Environment Programme.
- 5. In his welcoming remarks he noted that exactly ten years ago the First Meeting of the Interim Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee of the SPAW Protocol was held in Kingston, Jamaica at a time when environmental expectations in the region were high and the region prepared for the 1992 United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Today, several years later expectations are still high. There are many important global environmental agreements but these

environmental initiatives need to be translated into concrete actions at the regional and national levels. In this context, concerted and decisive efforts towards the conservation of biodiversity of the Wider Caribbean region are critical to the sustainable development of our countries. He noted that the SPAW Protocol is still today, the only instrument for the Wider Caribbean which offers an appropriate framework for the regional cooperation necessary for the conservation of our biodiversity.

6. He mentioned that, during the First Meeting of the Parties, the progress made by the Programme in achieving the objectives of SPAW was recognized, despite its recent entry into force. The governments of the region have more recently demonstrated renewed interest in the Protocol with their active and productive participation in the Ad Hoc Working Group on the species criteria and with ratification by the Government of France of the Protocol. He further stated that the challenges are great and need continued co-operation and commitment of the governments, NGOs, scientific institutions, communities, private sector and civil society in general. He expressed that, despite financial constraints, the Secretariat was pleased to hold this Second Meeting of the Parties only seven months after the First COP. The objectives of this brief Meeting were to continue advancing implementation process of the Protocol for the benefit of the region. On behalf of the Secretariat, he invited Parties to demonstrate their support to the Programme by giving consideration to hosting future meetings of SPAW, in particular as there were no funds in the Caribbean Trust Fund (CTF) to host the Second Meeting of Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC).

# AGENDA ITEM 2: ELECTION OF OFFICERS

- 7. In keeping with the procedure followed by the First Meeting of the Contracting Parties of the SPAW Protocol (Havana, Cuba, 24-25 September 2001), the Meeting was invited to elect a Chairperson, one Vice-Chairperson and a Rapporteur.
- 8. The Meeting elected from among the experts the following officers of the Meeting:

Chairperson:	Mr. Paul Hoetjes	(Netherlands Antilles)
Vice-chairperson:	Mr. Tahar Ou-Rabah	(France)
Rapporteur:	Ms. Sarah George	(St. Lucia)

### AGENDA ITEM 3: ORGANIZATION OF THE MEETING

### a) Rules of Procedure

9. The Meeting agreed to apply *mutatis mutandis* the Rules of Procedure of the Governing Council of UNEP, as contained in document UNEP/GC/3/Rev.3.

#### b) Organization of work

- 10. English, French and Spanish were the working languages of the Meeting. The working documents of the Meeting were available in all the working languages.
- 11. The Secretariat convened the Meeting in plenary sessions.

### AGENDA ITEM 4: ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

12. The Meeting was invited to adopt the agenda of the Meeting as contained in document UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/1. There were no comments on the proposed agenda, which was adopted as reflected in Annex I to this Report.

### AGENDA ITEM 5: REPORT OF THE AD HOC WORKING GROUP ON THE REVIEW OF THE CRITERIA FOR THE LISTING OF SPECIES IN THE ANNEXES OF THE SPAW PROTOCOL

- 13. The Secretariat invited the Co-ordinator of the Ad Hoc Working Group to make the presentation on the "Report of the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Review of the Criteria for the Listing of Species in the Annexes of the SPAW Protocol" as contained in document UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG. 21/3, prepared in keeping with Recommendations 4-7 of the First Meeting of the STAC and Decision No. IV of the First Meeting of the Contracting Parties (COP) of the SPAW Protocol.
- 14. In his presentation, the Coordinator of the Group noted that although the establishment of the Ad Hoc Group was mandated since September 2001 by the STAC the electronic group was only set up in December 2001 and the work of the Group only started in January 2002. He informed the Meeting that the Group had reached consensus on the first two criteria and the proposed revised text of these criteria was presented in his report. The Coordinator indicated that the Group had also initiated work on the third criteria. He noted that the Contracting Parties of the Dominican Republic, Panama, St. Vincent and the Grenadines and Trinidad and Tobago had not sent in nominations for the Working Group, and as a result were not presently represented. He indicated that relevant documents including the IUCN and CITES criteria were being considered during the review process as appropriate, in particular as the CITES criteria were themselves currently under revision.
- 15. The Meeting was invited to review the report and take appropriate action.
- 16. A number of delegations noted that although the work of the Group had been slower than expected, it was going in the right direction and recommended that the Group should aim to finalize its work before the Second STAC Meeting, which should be held

in the first quarter of 2003. This timeline was felt to adequately accommodate the outputs of the continued criteria review process of CITES.

- 17. The Meeting expressed its satisfaction with the leadership taken by the Government of the Netherlands Antilles as Coordinator of the Ad Hoc Group and the good work undertaken during the intersessional period.
- 18. A delegation emphasized the importance of the species list to the protection of ecosystems and requested clarification on the range of distribution as stated in the relevant criteria. The inclusion of endemic species in the Annexes was also supported. In this context, a number of delegations requested clarification on the scope of the Protocol, in particular with regard to terrestrial, coastal, and marine species. The Meeting agreed that issues of interpretation should be considered at a later date through the STAC.
- 19. The Meeting agreed to outline a timeframe for the continuation of the work of the Ad Hoc Working Group as contained in the Decisions of this Report and to expand the composition of the Group in light of the recent ratification by the Government of France. Additionally, it was agreed that the Parties which had not yet nominated their representatives to the Group should be urged to do so as soon as possible.
- 20. The observer for the Humane Society of the United States (HSUS) and the Eastern Caribbean Coalition for Environmental Awareness (ECCEA) noted the relevance to this issue of the ongoing revision process of the CITES listing criteria (CITES Res. Conf. 9.24). However, he advised the Meeting that at the last Meeting of CITES Standing Committee there was no agreement between the Animals and Plants Committees on the revised criteria. It is therefore possible that new criteria might not be approved by the CITES COP at its upcoming meeting (November 2002) in Santiago, Chile. The observer also noted the relevance of the IUCN criteria, but raised the concern that, as these did not form part of a legal document, any attempt to incorporate them by reference into the SPAW criteria might create implementation problems for some Parties.
- 21. The delegation of Venezuela offered to consider the possibility of hosting the Second Meeting of the STAC and COP meeting, if so required, in 2003.

# AGENDA ITEM 6: RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE FIRST MEETING OF THE SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE (STAC) TO THE PROTOCOL CONCERNING SPECIALLY PROTECTED AREAS AND WILDLIFE (SPAW) IN THE WIDER CARIBBEAN REGION

22. The Secretariat presented the report of the First Meeting of STAC, (Havana, Cuba, 27-29 September 2001) and invited the Parties to review and approve the Recommendations and to take any further action as appropriate.

- 23. A delegation requested the Secretariat to provide additional information on the status of development of the activity with UNEP-WCMC on the common format for reporting under the Protocol as recommended by the First Meeting of STAC. The Secretariat informed that UNEP-WCMC had initiated the implementation of a pilot project and coordination continued with the Secretariat in this regard.
- 24. The Parties agreed to approve the recommendations of the First STAC Meeting.
- 25. The Observer from the HSUS and ECCEA introduced an issue which had been omitted in the First Meeting of the STAC and suggested that given its importance the issue of the interpretation and implementation of Article 11(2), including the issue of exemptions should be discussed at the Third Meeting of the Contracting Parties. He noted that the Protocol provides no guidance on the information the STAC should require to assess the pertinence of exemptions. There are no guidelines or criteria available for the STAC to follow in its assessment, and indeed no indication of the consequences should the STAC conclude that the exemption is not "pertinent". He argued that the process for assessing exemptions needs to be clarified and standardized, both so that Parties will know the requirements and will be able to understand the reasoning behind a negative assessment. He suggested that criteria for the evaluation of exemptions should therefore be developed either by the COP or by a Working Group reporting to it.

# AGENDA ITEM 7: FINAL ADOPTION OF THE WORKPLAN AND BUDGET OF THE SPAW PROGRAMME FOR THE 2002-2003 BIENNIUM

- 26. The Secretariat made a presentation on the proposed "Workplan and Budget of the SPAW Programme for the 2002-2003 biennium" (UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.22/6), prepared by the Secretariat on the basis of decisions of the Thirteenth Monitoring Committee Meeting, the First Meeting of STAC and First COP.
- 27. The Secretariat, in making its presentation, noted that the 2002-2003 workplan and budget were not exactly as presented to the Thirteenth Meeting of the Monitoring Committee of the CEP Action Plan, as modifications had been introduced following the inputs provided by the First COP on SPAW and the First Meeting of the STAC (Havana, Cuba 24-29 September 2001).
- 28. The Secretariat presented the proposed activities for the SPAW Regional Programme for the biennium 2002-2003, highlighting the additional responsibilities of the Secretariat and the Parties with the entering into force of the SPAW Protocol one year ago. In this context, the Secretariat outlined the activities for SPAW co-ordination which included continuing to promote the Protocol through various mechanisms, co-ordination and communication with several organizations relevant to SPAW objectives, active participation of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) of SPAW, and fund-raising. The Secretariat thanked IFAW for the support in the development and publication of the brochure on SPAW which had just been released and

will be used as an important promotional tool during the present biennium. Work will also continue on improving the SPAW species database, now available on the web through the support provided by Monitor International during the biennium. The Secretariat invited participants to visit the web page (<u>www.caribbeanenvironment.net</u>) with the species database and to provide any feedback to ensure the accuracy and relevance of the information.

- 29. With regard to strengthening of protected areas, it was noted that activities will continue on the promotion of the Marine Protected Area network (CaMPAM), implementation of the small grant fund for MPAs, guidelines for the development of a list of protected areas under SPAW, and a regional workshop for MPA managers. The Secretariat informed the Meeting of a major undertaking for the biennium, the implementation of the four-year project entitled the International Coral Reef Acting Network (ICRAN), which is being funded primarily by the United Nations Foundation and which includes the Wider Caribbean as one of the four areas of concentration. The Secretariat referred the Meeting to document UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.22/INF.7, which provided details on the ICRAN project. It was explained that the main objective of the project worldwide is to reverse the decline of coral reefs. Four demonstration sites were selected, located in marine protected areas of Mexico, Belize, Bonaire and St. Lucia. It was also noted that the MPA training of trainers programme of SPAW would also be supported through ICRAN during the upcoming biennium.
- 30. With regard to species conservation, the Secretariat noted that efforts will continue to support sea turtle and manatee recovery plans, as well as working towards the development of an action plan for marine mammals and co-ordination with partners on the management of economically important species such as the queen conch and spiny lobster. A major area of work presented included the activities in support of the International Coral Reef Initiative (ICRI), which would also be funded through ICRAN. These activities include ecological and socio-economic assessments of coral reefs, monitoring, status on the condition of reefs and a compilation of best practices on reef management.
- 31. With regard to the proposed overall budget for SPAW, it was noted that although almost 50% of the projected costs were already available through ICRAN/UN Foundation, those funds would only be provided in their totality if counterpart funding was also raised. In this context, the Meeting was urged to assist the Secretariat with its fund raising efforts for this important project. The Meeting was invited to review this draft workplan and budget for 2002-2003 and provide specific comments and recommendations for its adoption.
- 32. The Parties and observers thanked the Secretariat for the detailed presentation and noted that the workplan reflected the needs of the countries, and that there was generally a good correlation between the workplan and the priorities of the countries. There was concern however as to how such an ambitious workplan would be financed and how priorities were going to be set. The Secretariat explained that priorities were set through the intergovernmental process, namely the COP of SPAW, and that funding availability also determines the sequence of activity implementation.

- 33. The Meeting discussed the issue of timing and location for the next COP and meeting of the STAC. The delegation from Venezuela offered to explore the possibility of hosting the next COP and/or STAC Meetings and to work closely with the Secretariat in this regard. The Secretariat noted, as was supported by several delegates that the COP of SPAW, according to article 23 of the Protocol, would ordinarily be held in conjunction with the Meeting of the Parties of the Cartagena Convention.
- 34. The Government of France noted that now as Contracting Party to the SPAW Protocol it will increase its contribution to the CTF to support SPAW activities. The Secretariat and the Parties welcomed the offer and thanked France for this support.
- 35. The observer from IFAW pledged their support for scientific information gathering towards the development of the marine mammal action plan and to fund a regional workshop of experts for this purpose in the first quarter of 2003 in keeping with the proposed SPAW workplan.
- 36. The observer for the SPAW/RAC indicated that they intend to support the workshop on guidelines for protected areas described in the workplan and that the Parties and Observers will be advised in due course.
- 37. The observer for the Humane Society of the United States (HSUS) and the Eastern Caribbean Coalition for Environmental Awareness (ECCEA) advised the Parties of a linkage between Paragraph 76 of the Workplan, calling for increased cooperation with CITES, and Activity (d), Paragraph 100(f) referring to the development of a management program for queen conch. He noted that the queen conch is listed on Appendix II of CITES, and indeed is one the more heavily-traded animal species on that Appendix.
- 38. At its meeting in Hanoi, Vietnam, in 2001 the CITES Animals Committee agreed to include the queen conch as a species to be considered under Phase 4 of the CITES Significant Trade Review (CITES Res. Conf. 8.9). Under this process a consultant has been engaged to prepare a report on the status of the species, including the indication of possible problems with the implementation of Article IV on non-detriment findings by range states. The consultant's report is currently in draft. The consultant's findings could lead, under the process, to the development of recommendations for actions to be taken by individual range states. Under the terms of Res. Conf. 8.9, failure to comply with these recommendations could lead to consequences including suspension of trade in the species.
- 39. CITES Recommendations under the Significant Trade Review process are directed at individual states rather than to regions. The observer suggested that these recommendations could, however, include involvement in a regional management plan developed under SPAW. It would therefore be highly productive for the Secretariat of SPAW to collaborate with the CITES Secretariat to ensure that the two processes, the CITES review and the SPAW management plan, could work towards common goals. The observer suggested that this process provided an ideal opportunity for synergy between the two conventions as well as an increased opportunity to enhance conch

conservation in the region. The observer recommended that the text of Activity (d), Paragraph 100(f) should therefore be amended to include specific reference to CITES.

- 40. The Meeting also recommended that the work on protected areas strengthening be linked to relevant initiatives, in particular those under the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) on the development of marine protected areas guidelines.
- 41. The Meeting endorsed the workplan and budget with the amendments reflected in the Decisions to this report prior to its adoption by the Tenth Intergovernmental Meeting on the Action Plan for the Caribbean Environment Programme and Seventh Meeting of the Contracting Parties to the Cartagena Convention (7-11 May 2002).

# AGENDA ITEM 8: REPORT OF THE REGIONAL ACTIVITY CENTRE FOR SPAW (SPAW/RAC) ON PROGRESS MADE IN THE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE OPERATIONS OF THE RAC

- 42. The representative of the Government of France presented the "Report by the Government of France on the Status of the Regional Activity Centre (RAC) for SPAW in Guadeloupe" (UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.22/INF.6), in keeping with Decision VIII of the First COP Meeting of SPAW and Recommendation No.8 of the Thirteenth Meeting of the Monitoring Committee on the Action Plan for the Caribbean Environment Programme and Special Meeting of the Bureau of Contracting Parties to the Cartagena Convention (9-13 July 2001).
- 43. The French delegate noted that UNEP-CAR/RCU and the French Government, within the framework of the Agreement they signed on 7 June 2000, continued to work on arrangements for the Regional Activity Centre (RAC) for SPAW in the Department of Guadeloupe, specifically in the Guadeloupe Regional Environment Directorate (DIREN).
- 44. He indicated that an expert study on the appropriate legal framework for the structure of the Centre was undertaken by the French Government. The findings of the study recommended that the best legal arrangement would be one giving the Centre a legal private personality under French law (1901 Act on Associations). The Government of France intends to organize the RACs activities and make it operational by November 2002. The RAC will have financial autonomy, flexible management and will enable local bodies and associations to collaborate with the government and its public establishments.
- 45. For the first year the cost of operation of the RAC will be charged to DIREN's budget. In subsequent years, beginning in 2003, a subvention will be allocated to the association by the Ministry of the Environment.
- 46. The RAC will have a Director who will supervise a Deputy Director, responsible for legal and technical matters, a Science Attaché and a Secretary. Once the RAC is

operational, a report on the relations between the RAC, the Secretariat and the Parties to the Cartagena Convention and its Protocols will be prepared.

47. The Chairman invited comments from the Meeting. The Meeting thanked the Government of France for the report and urged France to expedite the process to make the RAC fully operational by no later than the end of the year.

# AGENDA ITEM 9: OTHER BUSINESS

- 48. The participants of the Meeting were invited to raise other issues not covered by the preceding agenda items, but which were relevant to the scope of the Meeting.
- 49. The delegation from the United Kingdom suggested that an informal Ad Hoc Group be formed through the Internet to address queries and concerns on legal issues and with a voluntary membership. The objective of the electronic group would be to facilitate informal communication among interested participants. The Meeting decided to address such issues informally without a specific working group at this point in time but utilizing the existing SPAW e-group for the exchange of such information.

# AGENDA ITEM 10: ADOPTION OF THE DECISIONS OF THE MEETING

50. The Rapporteur of the Meeting presented the Draft Decisions of the Meeting. The Meeting adopted the Decisions, with amendments as reflected in Annex II to this Report. The Secretariat agreed to submit the Report of the Meeting (UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/INF.3) to the participants by electronic mail before 31 May 2002 for revision and adoption. Comments and corrections were received until 30 June 2002 and the final Report was presented in July 2002 to all participants.

# AGENDA ITEM 11: CLOSURE OF THE MEETING

- 51. The Chairman of the Meeting and the Secretariat offered closing remarks. In his closing remarks the Chairman thanked all delegates and observers for their productive participation. The Meeting also thanked the Chairman for the good conduct of the Meeting as well as the Rapporteur and the Secretariat for their work.
- 52. The Meeting was closed at 6:30 p.m. on Monday, 6 May 2002 by the Chairman and Secretariat, who urged the Parties and Observers to continue participating actively in the SPAW process during the intersessional period.

# **ANNEX I: AGENDA**

# AGENDA

Second Meeting of the Contracting Parties (COP) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region

## Introduction

- 1. Opening of the Meeting
- 2. Election of Officers
- 3. Organisation of the Meeting
  - a) Rules of Procedure
  - b) Organisation of work
- 4. Adoption of the Agenda
- 5. Report of the Ad Hoc Working Group on the review of the criteria for the listing of species in the Annexes of the SPAW Protocol.
- 6. Recommendations of the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region.
- 7. Final adoption of the Workplan and Budget of the SPAW Programme for the 2002-2003 biennium.
- 8. Report of the Regional Activity Centre for SPAW (SPAW/RAC) on progress made in the arrangements for the operations of the RAC.
- 9. Other Business.
- 10. Adoption of the Decisions of the Meeting.
- 11. Closure of the Meeting.

# **ANNEX II: DECISIONS**

### **DECISIONS OF THE MEETING**

The Contracting Parties:

**Having convened** the Second Meeting of the Contracting Parties (COP) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region;

**Noting the decisions** of the First Meeting of the Contracting Parties (COP) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region, Havana, Cuba, 24-25 September 2001; and the recommendations of the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region, Havana, Cuba, 27-29 September 2001;

**Taking into account** the Draft Workplan and Budget for the Caribbean Environment Programme for the biennium 2002-2003 (UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.22/6) (including the SPAW regional programme); and

**Having reviewed** the Report of the *Ad Hoc* Working Group on the Review of the Criteria for the Listing of Species in the Annexes of the SPAW Protocol (UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/3);

### Decide to:

- 1. <u>Encourage</u> the governments of the region which have not yet done so to become Contracting Parties to the Cartagena Convention and its Protocols, including the SPAW Protocol.
- 2. <u>Endorse</u> the revised Workplan and Budget for the SPAW Regional Programme for the 2002-2003 biennium as reflected in the text of the Draft Workplan and Budget for the SPAW Regional Programme 2002-2003 included in document UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.22/6 and with modifications introduced by the meeting as follows:
  - a. <u>Make</u> specific reference in paragraph 84 of the work already undertaken by the ISTAC on the protected areas guidelines and that the proposed workshop is to review the progress made in this regard. It was further agreed, that IUCN-WCPA and the SPAW/RAC should be encouraged to cooperate as much as possible in the development of this SPAW activity, in particular as the SPAW/RAC and the Government of France are considering supporting the convening of this workshop.
  - b. <u>**Expand</u>** the collaboration with the CITES Secretariat in particular in Activity (d) 100(f) on the development of a management plan for queen conch, which is listed under Appendix II of CITES and which is currently included in the CITES Significant Trade Review Process.</u>

- c. <u>**Reflect**</u> the offer made by IFAW to support the convening of an experts workshop in early 2003 for further development of the regional action plan for marine mammals and for information gathering as appropriate.
- d. <u>**Reflect**</u> the need for the Parties and Observers to make active use of the existing SPAW electronic group, in order to discuss any issues of relevance to the SPAW Protocol, including implementation methods, legal issues and interpretational issues.
- 3. <u>Invite</u> the Government of France as a new Party to change its status in the Ad Hoc Working Group in the review of the criteria for the listing of species in the Annexes to the Protocol, as well as the other Parties which had not submitted their nominations yet, namely the Governments of the Dominican Republic, Panama, Trinidad and Tobago and St. Vincent and the Grenadines. In this context the COP requests these Governments to submit as soon as possible their nominations to the Secretariat and the Bureau of the STAC following the procedure outlined in Recommendation 4 of the First Meeting of the STAC, Havana, Cuba, 27-29 September 2001.
- 4. <u>Invite</u> two additional observers from non-Parties and NGOs to join the Ad Hoc Working Group making their participation a total of ten observers represented in the Group. The procedure agreed at the First Meeting of the STAC for the nominations and selection of observers will continue to be used. Observers seeking to be in the Working Group should submit their nominations by 5 June 2002.
- 5. <u>**Request**</u> the Ad Hoc Working Group to follow the timetable as outlined below during the intersessional period until the Second Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) to the SPAW Protocol:
  - a. The Ad Hoc Group should aim to have its final report completed by the end of January 2003;
  - b. During its work the Ad Hoc Group is to take into consideration key outputs from the criteria review process being undertaken by the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species (CITES);
  - c. The final report of the Ad Hoc Group is to be considered at the Second Meeting of the STAC which should be held preferably within the first quarter 2003.
- 6. <u>Welcome</u> the preliminary offer made by the Government of Venezuela to host the Second Meeting of the Scientific, Technical and Advisory Committee (STAC) and requests the Secretariat to further develop this proposal.
- 7. <u>Approve</u> the Recommendations of the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region, Havana, Cuba, 27-29 September, 2001.
- 8. <u>**To encourage**</u> the Government of France to make operational the Regional Activity Centre (RAC) for SPAW in Guadeloupe.

9. <u>To include</u> the issue of the interpretation and implementation of Article 11 paragraph 2, including the development of criteria for the assessment of exemptions by the STAC, in the Agenda of the Third Meeting of the Contracting Parties.

UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/INF3

# ANNEX III: LIST OF DOCUMENTS

# UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/INF3 Annex III, Page 1

# LIST OF DOCUMENTS

# **Working Documents**

UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/1	Provisional Agenda
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/2	Provisional Annotated Agenda
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/3	Report of the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Review of the Criteria for the Listing of Species in the Annexes of the SPAW Protocol
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.22/6	Draft Workplan and Budget for the Caribbean Environment Programme for the biennium 2002- 2003 (includes Workplan and Budget for the SPAW Regional Programme)
Information Documents	
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/INF.1	Provisional list of documents
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/INF.2	Provisional list of participants (to be prepared during the Meeting)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.22/INF.6	Report by the Government of France on the Status of the Regional Activity Centre (RAC) for SPAW in Guadeloupe
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.22/INF.5	Report of the Executive Director of UNEP on the implementation of the Caribbean Environment Programme 2000-2001 (includes the SPAW Regional Programme)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/INF.3	Report of the Second Meeting of the Contracting Parties (COP) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region (to be prepared during the Meeting)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.20/7	Report of the First Meeting of the Contracting Parties (COP) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region (Havana, Cuba 24-25 September 2001)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR WG.23/6	Report of the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region (Havana, Cuba, 27 -29 de September 2001)

UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.20/3	Evaluation of the work of the Interim Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (ISTAC) since its inception (1992-2000)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.20/4	Structure and Scope of the Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) of the SPAW Protocol
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.20/6	Priorities for implementation following the entry into force of the SPAW Protocol: responsibilities for the Contracting Parties, for the STAC and for the Secretariat
UNEP(DEC)/CAR WG.23/4	Draft criteria for the listing of species in the Annexes of the SPAW Protocol
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.19/INF.5	The International Coral Reef Activity Network (ICRAN): A global partnership for coral reefs - A summary
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.20/5	Relationship between the SPAW Protocol, the STAC and the work undertaken by the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice (SBSTTA) to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD)
<b>Reference Documents</b>	
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.20/INF.4	Report to the Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) from the Secretariat of the Convention for the Protection and Development of the Marine Environment of the Wider Caribbean Region (Cartagena 1983) and its Protocols, including the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW), (February 2001)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.17/5	Report of the Ninth Intergovernmental Meeting on the Action Plan for the Caribbean Environment Programme and Sixth Meeting of the Contracting Parties to the Convention for the Protection and Development of the Marine Environment of the Wider Caribbean Region. Kingston, Jamaica, 14-18 February 2000
UNEP(WATER)/CAR WG.22/5	Fourth Meeting of the Interim Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (ISTAC) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean, Region. Havana, Cuba, 3-6 August 1999

# UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/INF3 Annex III, Page 3

UNEP(OCA)/CAR WG.19/6	Third Meeting of the Interim Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (ISTAC) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region. Kingston, Jamaica, 11-13 October 1995
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.20/INF.5	Funding Protected Areas in the Wider Caribbean: A Guide for Managers and Conservation Organizations (English and Spanish only)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.20/INF.6	Directory of members of SPAW Protocol e-group.
	(English only)
UNEP(OCA)/CAR WG.11/7	Second Meeting of the Interim Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (ISTAC) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean, Region. French Guiana, 3-5 May 1993
UNEP(OCA)/CAR WG.5/1	First Meeting of the Interim Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (ISTAC) to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean, Region. Kingston, Jamaica, 4-8 May 1992
UNEP, 2002	Directory of Focal Points of the Caribbean Environment Programme. CEP Information Paper, April 2002. (English only)
UNEP/Ramsar, 2000	Memorandum of Cooperation between the Secretariat of the Convention for the Protection and Development of the Marine Environment of the Wider Caribbean (Cartagena, 1983) and the Bureau of the Convention on Wetlands (Ramsar, 1971) (English only)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG. 17/INF.6	International Trade in Species listed in both the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) and the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species (CITES) (English only)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.17/INF.5/Add.1	U.S. Comments on SPAW-CITES Compatibility Issues. (English only)
UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.17/INF.5	Legal Assessment of "Compatibility" issues between the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) to the Cartagena Convention and the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species (CITES) (English only)
UNEP/GC/3/Rev.3,1998	Rules of Procedure of the Governing Council of UNEP

UNEP(WATER)/CAR WG.11/INF.6	Memorandum of Cooperation between the Secretariat of the Convention of the Protection and Development of the Marine Environment of the Wider Caribbean Region (Cartagena, 1983) and its Protocols, including the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) and the Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) (Nairobi, 1992)
UNEP, 1991	Conference of Plenipotentiaries for the Adoption of the Annexes to the Protocol Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife in the Wider Caribbean Region. Final Act
UNEP, 1990	Conference of Plenipotentiaries Concerning Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife in the Wider Caribbean Region. Final Act
UNEP, 1983	Convention for the Protection and Development of the Marine Environment of the Wider Caribbean Region (Cartagena Convention)

UNEP(DEC)/CAR IG.21/INF3

# ANNEX IV: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

## LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

#### **CONTRACTING PARTIES/PARTIES CONTRACTANTES/PARTES CONTRATANTES**

Participants/ Title/Titre/Título Address/Adresse/Dirección Participants/Participantes

Tel./Fax/E-mail /Website

#### COLOMBIA/COLOMBIE/COLOMBIA

Dalila Caicedo	Profesional	Dirección de Ecosistemas	Tel: (571) 332-3434, 288 6877 ext. 407
	Especializado -	Ministerio del Medio	Fax: 571 340 6206
	Biologa Marina	Ambiente	dcaicedo@minambiente.gov.co
			www.minambiente.gov.co

#### CUBA/CUBA/CUBA

Jorge Mario García	Director	Centro de Información, Gestion y Educacción Ambiental (CIGEA) Agencia de Medio Ambient (AMA) Ministerio de Ciencia, Tecnología y Medi Ambiente (CITMA)	
Antonio Perera	Director	Centro Nacional de Areas Protegidas (CNAP) Agencia de Medio Ambient (AMA) Ministerio de Ciencia, Tecnlogoía y Medi Ambiente (CITMA)	www.medioambiente.cu

#### FRANCE / FRANCE / FRANCIA

Tahar Ou-Rabah	Direction de la Nature Ministère de l'Amenagement Tel: (33) 1 42 19 20 90		
	et des Paysages	du Territoire et de	Fax: (33) 1 42 19 19 06
		l'Environnement	tahar.ou-rabah@ environnement.gouv.fr

#### NETHERLANDS ANTILLES / ANTILLES NEERLANDAISES / ANTILLAS NEERLANDESAS

Darryllin van der Veen	Policy Advisor	Fort Amsterdam 4, Curacao Netherlands Antilles	Tel: 5999-4613933 Fax:5999-4617123 dvdveen.bbb@curinfo.an
Paul Hoetjes	Policy Advisor	Santa Rosa Weg 122, Curacao	Tel. 5999-7363530 Fax: 5999-7363505 milvomil@cura.net http://mina.vomil.an

Participants/ Participants/Participantes

Title/Titre/Título Address/Adresse/Dirección

Tel./Fax/E-mail /Website

# PANAMA / PANAMA / PANAMA

Maríaeugenia Ayala	Jefe de Departamento de Adecuacion y Manejo Ambiental	Autoridad Nacional del Ambiente	Tel: (507) 315 0867/0870 Fax: (507) 315 1026 b.perez@anam.gob.pa
	<u>ST. LUCIA</u>	/ STE-LUCIE / STA. LUC	<u>IA</u>
Sarah George	Deputy Chief Fisheries Officer	Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries 5th Floor, Sir Stanislaus James Building Castries	Tel: (758) 468-4135 Fax: (758) 452-3853 deptfish@slumaffe.org www.slumaffe.org
TRIN	IDAD / TOBAGO/TR	RINITE et TOBAGO / TRIN	IDAD y TABAGO
Hazel McShine	Director	Institute of Marine Affairs Hilltop Lane, Chaguaramas, P.O. Box 3160, Carenage	Tel. (868) 634-4291/4 Fax: (868) 634-4433 director@ima.gov.tt http://www.ima.gov.tt
	VENEZUELA	/ VENEZUELA / VENEZU	JELA
Alberto Belzares	Ambassador	Esquina de Carmelita, Torre MRE, Piso 13	Tel. 862 8886 Fax: 860 9372 albertobelzares@yahoo.com
Janin Mendoza	Director de Calidad de Agua	Direccion General de Calidad Ambiental, Direccion de Calidad de Agua, Ministerio del Ambiente y de los Recursos Naturales Centro Simon Bolivar, Torre sur, Piso 28, Caracas	Tel. (005 8212) 408 1141/ 1142 Fax: 408 1118 jnmendoza@marn.gov.ve
Sara Galvez	Jefe de Division de Areas Naturales Protegidas	Direccion General de Diversidad Biologica, Ministerio del Ambiente y de los Recursos Naturales Centro Simon Bolivar, Torre sur, Piso 6, Caracas	Tel. 0212 408 2149/66 Fax: 212 408 2109 sgalvez@cantv.net

http://DoE.8m.com

#### OBSERVERS/OBSERVATEURS/OBSERVADORES

Participants/

Participants/ Participants/Participantes	Title/Titre/Título	Address/Adresse/Dirección	Tel./Fax/E-mail /Website			
BAHAMAS / BAHAMAS / BAHAMAS						
Edison Deleveaux	Deputy Director, Fisheries	N3028 Nassau	Tel. (242) 393 1978 direct line (242) 393 1777 Fax: 242 393 0238 fisheries@batelnet.bs			
UNITED KINGDOM / ROYAUME-UNI / REINO UNIDO						
Denise Dudgeon	Foreign &	King Charles St	Tel. 44 2072702725			
C	Commonwealth	London SW1A 2AH	Fax: 44 207 270 4076			
	Office		denise.dudgeon@fco.gov.uk			
Ceris Bailes	Foreign &	King Charles St	Tel. 44 2072702697			
	Commonwealth	London SW1A 2AH	Fax: 44 207 2702879			
	Office		ceris.bailes@fco.gov.uk			
David Connor	Joint Nature	Monkstone House, City	Tel. 44 1733 866837			
	Conservation	Road Peterborough PE1 1JY	Fax: 44 1733 555 948			
	Committee		david.connor@jncc.gov.uk			
John Bothwell	Reasearch Officer	Department of Environment	Tel.: 345-949-8469			
		P.O. Box 486GT	Fax: 345-949 4020			
		Grand Cayman	john.bothwell@gov.ky			
			http://DoE 9m com			

#### UNITED STATES OF AMERICA / ETATS-UNIS D'AMERIQUE / ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMERICA

David Alarid	Regional Environmental Officer	Environmental Hub for Central America and the Caribbean, US Embassy,	Tel. (506) 290-8408/ 220-3939 Fax: (506) 290-8409/ 3128 alaridda@state.gov
Richard Wilbur	International Relations Officer	San Jose Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs	wilburrm2@state.gov
		United States Department of State 2201 C Street, N.W Room 5806 Washington, D.C. 20520	
Elizabeth McLanahan	International Affairs Specialist	U.S. Department of Commerce National Oceanic & Atmospheric Administration International Affairs Office 14th & Constitution Avenue N.W., Room 5230, Washington D.C. 20230	Tel. 202 482-5140 Il Fax: 202 482-4307 elizabeth.mclanahan@noaa.gov

#### OBSERVERS/OBSERVEURS/OBSERVADORES INTERGOVERNMENTAL AND NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS / ORGANISATIONS INTERGOUVERNEMENTALES ET NON-GOUVERNEMENTALES / ORGANISACIONES INTERGUBERNAMENTALES Y NO-GUBERNAMENTALES

Participants/ Participants/Participantes	Title/Titre/Título	Address/Adresse/Dirección	Tel./Fax/E-mail /Website			
EASTERN CARIBBEAN COALITION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL AWARENESS (ECCEA)						
Ronald Orenstein		1825 Shady Creek Court,	Tel. 905 820 7886			
		Mississauga, Ontario,	Fax: 905 569 0116			
		Canada L5L 3W2	ornstn@rogers.com			
	EASTERN CARIBB	EAN CETACEAN NETWO	PRK (ECCN)			
Nathalie Ward	Director	Faculty, Biology Departmen				
		Boston University Marine	Fax: (508) 548-3317			
		Program Marine Biological				
		Laboratory P.O. Box				
		573, Woods Hole				
		MA 02543				
	HUMANE SOCIET	Y OF THE UNITED STAT	<u>ES (HSUS)</u>			
Ronald Orenstein		1825 Shady Creek Court,	Tel. 905 820 7886			
		Mississauga, Ontario,	Fax: 905 569 0116			
		Canada L5L 3W2	ornstn@rogers.com			
		SPAW/RAC				
Bernard Domenjoud	Director	1 rue du Capitaine Bebel,	Tel. 0590 410451			
5		97100 Basse-Terre,	Fax: 0590 410462			
		Guadeloupe FWI	E-mail: domenjou@outremer.com,			
			bernard.domenjoud@guadeloupe.enviro			
			nnement.gouv.fr			
THIRD MILLENIUM FOUNDATION						
Participants	Title	Address	Tel./Fax/E-mail /Website			
Domitilla Senni	Board Chair	Loc. Fossola, 59, 06060	Tel. 39 075 830351			
		Paciano (PG) Italy	Fax: 39 075 830381			
			3mf@3rdmf.org			
Regina Monticone	Consultant	Loc. Fossola, 59, 06060	Tel. 39 075 830351			
		Paciano (PG) Italy	Fax: 39 075 830381			
			3mf@3rdmf.org			
WIDECAST						
Ijahnya Christian	Executive Director	Anguilla National Trust P.O	Tel: 264-497-5297			
-juniju Christian	Literative Director	1234 The Valley, Anguilla,				
		B.W.I	axanat@anguillanet.com			
			http://web.ai/ant/			

# SECRETARIAT OF THE CARIBBEAN ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME SECRETARIAT DU PROGRAMME POUR L'ENVIRONNEMENT DES CARAIBE SECRETARIA DEL PROGRAMA AMBIENTAL DEL CARIBE

United Nations Environment Programme 14-20 Port Royal Street, Kingston, Jamaica Tel: (876) 922-9267, Fax: (876) 922-9292 www.cep.unep.org

Veerle Vandeweerd	Coodinator, Global Programme of Action for the Protection of Marine Environment from Land-based Activities (GPA), Deputy Director DEPI	P.O. Box 16227, 2500 BE, The Hague, The Netherlands Tel. 31 70 311 4461 Fax: 31 70 311 4485 v.vandeweerd@unep.nl
Nelson Andrade Colmenares	Coordinator, UNEP-CAR/RCU	nac.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Tim Kasten	Acting Deputy Coordinator/AMEP Programme Officer	tjk.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Luc St-Pierre	CEPNET Programme Officer	lsp.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Alessandra Vanzella-Khouri	SPAW Programme Officer	avk.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Txema Beato	Administrative Officer	txema.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Una McPherson	Administrative Assistant	admin.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Ingrid Lee-Smart	System Analyst	uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Malden Miller	ICRAN Project Manager	mwm.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Coral Portillo	Senior Secretary	uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Brenda Dewdney	Bilingual Secretary (SPAW)	uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Donna Henry-Hernández	Bilingual Secretary (CEPNET)	uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com
Bentley Samuels	Registry Clerk/Driver	uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com